
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COI'INTBIA CIRCUIT

lIO.91-1'189

GEORGIA PACIFIC CORPORAIION,
PETITIONER,

V.

FEDERAI, ENERGY REGULATORY COU!{ISSION'
RESPONDENT

NO.91-1{90

CONSOLIDAAED UINERALS' INC"
PETITIONER,

V.

FEDERAI, ENERGY REGUI,ATORY CO}!}TISSION'
RESPONDENT

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF ORDERS OF TEE

EEDERAL ENERGY BEGULATORY COI{UISSION

BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT FEDERAI.' ENERGY REGUI.IATORY COUUISSION

SIATEI'TENT OF THE ISSUES

whether the commission's rejection of the Florida Gas

Transmission company's April L991 tariff proposal in this case

was a lawful exercise of its authority under section 4 of the

Natural Gas Act, and in accord with established princi-ples of res

judicata.

A11 appficabte statutes and regulations are attached to this

brief in the StatutorY APPendix'
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STATE}TENT OF TIIE CASE

Florida Gas Transmission company (FGT) is a natural gas

pipeline engaged, in the transportation and the sale for resale of

natural gas in interstate commerce, and thus is subject to

commission jurisdiction under section 2 (6) of the Natural Gas Act

("NGA'i), t5 u.s.c. s 7L7a(6). The petitioner in D'c' cir' Docket

No. 91-t-489, Georgia Pacific corporation (GaPac), is the owner

and operator of a paper mill located in Palatka, Florida, and is

a direct sale customer of FGT. The petitioner in D.c' cir'

Docket No. 91-1490, Consolidated Minerals, Inc" is a

manufacturer of animal feed supplements located in Plant City'

Florida, and is also a dj,rect sale customer of FGT.

Petitionersr claim is that the Commissionrs rejection of an

April Lggl tariff filed by FGT elevates pro rata scheduling of

capacity for FGT t s preferred interuptible service over

historical end-use curtailment priority, in violation of Section

5 of the NGA and Title IV of the Natural Gas Policy Act (rrNGPArr) 
'

15U.S.c.ss33g1.-g4,andexceedsthelimitsoftheCommj.ssion|S
jurisdiction over direct sales customers established by Section

1(b) of the NGA, 1-5 U.S.C. S 7L7 (b). on these grounds,

petitioners in this case are challenging two Commission orders

rejecting FGT's April Lgga tariff filing. These orders are: L)

Florida Gas Transmission Corp., 'tOrder Rejecting Tariff Sheet,rr

55 FERC !l 6L,337 (May 31, l-991); and 2) Florida Gas Transmission

Co., frOrder Denying Rehearingr" 56 FERC !l 61t264 (August 8,

1991-). FGT has not sought review of these orders.
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SIATEI{EIWT OI' TEE FACTS

A. Backqround: The Octobgr 1989 Settlemgng Proposal
DDAO-E

l.FGTprovidesthesoleaccessfortransportationof

natural gas into the peninsular Florida market area' Prior to

August l-990, FGT had been a natural gas merchant that transported

itssystemsupptygasinconnectionwithitsownsales,but
provided no third party-supplier transportation services on the

Florida peninsula. see Florida Gas Transmission co., 5a FERC

!t 6L,3og at P. 62,006 (1-990) '

Historically, FGT served sales customers under (1) finni (21

preferred interruptible; and (3) primary interruptible, rate

schedules. L/ FGT's customersr rights to guantities of FGT gas

supply were determined by annual volumetric entitlements (AVEs)

in pipeline supply agreements with individual customers' u

since t-980, FGT has also had an end-use curtailment plan in

effect which provides the highest priority to residential

customers, and the next highest priorities to agricultural and

L/ preferred interruptible service is unigue to FGT, and can be

described as ;- i;a;;iuptible service tnat is second in
priority onty -o firrn slrvice, i'e'-, it is allocated
capacity after-iit* service but-before other interruptible
service. R. L4g n.5; J.A. 27 n'5; 55 FERC at p' 6L '994 n'5'
The customer paid more for preferred service than primary
irri"r.,rptiUfe-se*i"". eriirary interruptible service, oo

the other nandl-"orfa U" interiupted on short notice at the
option of FGTr'and carried the lowest rates. see Houston
Texas eas & oi-I Corp.. et aI., 16 FpC 1l-8, l-26 n.5 (1956).

AVEs are contractually authorized guantities barring FGT

customers from purcha;es exceeding a set amount of gas at
;;;-;""-aeriver'y point. + Lehiqh Portland Cement Co' v'
r.roriaa eas rii'nsiission 6., rl punc fl 6L,O4L at p. 6L,o74
( l-980) ( "Lehiqhrr ) -

u
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industrial process end-users, respectively. The curtailment plan

assigned the lowest priorities to certain boiler-fueI end-users'

i.e., electric utilities which were fuel-switchable and consumed

gas in the generation of electric Power only when it was

economically advantageous to do so. During the L9B0S, FGT!s

preferred interruptible customers consisted of both lower

priority end-users (that would be curtailed first under FGTrs

curtaj-Iment procedures) and higher priority end-users (curtailed

last under F'GTrs PIan) -

FGT's system of AVEs and its end-use curtailment plan did

not distinguish between the firm and interruptible nature of

services. Because there had been little curtailment of

preferred services throughout the 1980s, the guality of preferred

interruptible service had approached the guality of firrn service'

See 5l- FERC at P . 62 ,002 -

2.a. On October a7, l-989, FGT filed with the Commission a

proposed settlement to resolve a variety of issues, including

system expansion, service restructuring, capacity allocation,

curtailment procedures, and FGTts conversion to an open access

pipeline under Commission Order No. 436. 3-/ The settlement

Regulation of Natural Gas Pipelines After Partial Wellhead
De6ontrol, 50 Fed. Reg. 42,4b9 (Oct. l-8, l-985), FERC Stats.
& Regs., iegulations ir"amUles l-982-l-985 !l 30,665 (l-985),
ordei on rehtg, Order No. 436-A' FERC Stats' & RegTs',
n#"tionGe.mb1es !t[ 30, 675 (1985), vacated and,remanded,
asJociatea cas oistriuutors v. FERC, 824 F.2d 981 (D.C' Cir'

85 U.S. l-006 (l-988), readoptqd on an
inieiim Ua=i-s, oraer No. 5oo, 52 Fe+' Reg' 30,334 (AYg' L4'
Lr}?) , FERC Stats. & Regs., Regrulations Preambles, l-986-1990
fl 3O',.76L (1987) , remanded, American Gas Di-stributors v.

(continued. '- )
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proposal for the first time altocated firm capacity to

transporting customers and provided for a permanent reallocation

of FGTts system capacity across the board for all FGT customers'

5]- FERe at p. 62,00]'. u By virtue of increased subscriptions

for firm service (and a revised curtailment procedure that would

interrupt firm customers last regardless of their priority Ievel

under FGTts end-use curtailment plan), FGTrs serviCe structure

would be transformed from one without any clear distinction

between firm and interruptible service into a structure in whj-ch

total- nominations for firm daily contract service matched FGTrs

system capacity- 51- FERC at p ' 62,004 '

b.TheoctoberL.T,].gEgproposedsettlementalsoretained
the preferred interruptible service categrory' 5/ To preserve

the quality of this serviee, the settlement proposed to establish

a/ (.. . continued)
FERC, 888 i'.Za :-:e (D.C. Cir. L989), read9pted, ^Order No'

5Oo-H, 54 Fed- Reg' 52,344 (Dec l -2-L' LsBg) r FETS stats' &

Regs., Regulations Preanblei, L986-1-990 !t 30'867 (l-989) '
reh'g gti;i"a in part ana aeniEd. in part'. order-No' 500-r'
5s Fed. Atg::o6OS-TFE}. ze , 1990) , FERC Stats. & Regs.,
Regulationi Preambies, 198a-L99o !t 30,880 (1990), aff'd in
part and remanded an ?art, AB,ericin Gas A?sqcialion v' FERC,

s::z F.2d 14are;c=c1r. isgo) , ce't. denied, 1l-l- S. ct . 957

(Lee1).

L/FromJanuary13,l?-sgthrouqhMarchl-5'1989'FGTheldanwopen 
=""=oi-rrt for the prtpoi"= of 

- 
aecepting nominations for

firm ="*i"" rioln exislin-g as well as new sales and

transportation customei=. 
- S"" Florida Gas Transmission Co"

46 FERC !l 6LtL4g at p' 61 ,525 (l-989) '

5/ Preferred interruptible, formerly only a sales serviee' was

proposedtobeofferedbothasasa}esandtransportation
service. In addition, the october 1989 settlement added a
new lowe=1-pri-.ity ciass of interruptible service, simply
called'r interruPtible .''
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Iimits on the availability of this service by irnposing a

"volumetric cap.rr This cap woutd lirnit the total guantity of gas

to be sold to or transported for preferred interruptible

customers, and to the extent of this volume limitation, the cap

reserved or "allocatedrt capacity on the pipeline which was

subject to interruption by firrn services, but which had priority

over other interruptible services. With the restructuring and

expansion effected by the settlement, the availability of

preferred service would decline because various customers opted

to receive firrn transportation and sales service.

c. The proposed settlement also contained curtailment

procedures virtually identical to those which had existed prior

to the system restructuring. In section 9 of the proposed

settlement, entitled |tPrioritv of service--Gas supplvrrr FGT

proposed a curtailment plan for firm and preferred interruptible

service, admj-nistered through end-use priorities, to be invoked

when FGT, as sel]er, encountered gas supplv constraints' In

Section 9A, entitled "Priorities of Service--Pipeline Capacitv' rr

FGT specifically provided for curtailment priorities, also based

on end-use, to be invoked during periods of ttcapacitv limitation"

which FGT defined to include all capacity constraints caused by

f'force majeure and operating conditions.rr 5L FERC at P' 6l-,998'

The 1o-step end-use priority categories for both of the proposed

gas supply and capacity curtailment plans were identical to the

categories in effect under a preexisting curtailment plan that

had been in effect since l-980. Id'



-7-

d. In Section 98 of the proposed settlernent, entitled

"priorities of service--schedulingrl' FGT also included new

procedures to schedule preferred interruptible service in a

manner that would essentially preserve the end-use priorities

that had existed before the settlement. under this proposal,

after FGT had received sales estimates and transportation

nominations for preferred service from both high priority and low

priority end-users, it would have been allowed to schedule

preferred service on an end-use basis applicable in the

curtailment context -- i.e., by using the same 1o-step priority

categories detailed in the proposed gas supply and capacity

curtailment plans, discussed supra. 5l- FERC at p. 6l-,998' 9./

B.

1. By order issued June L5, L990, the commission approved

most of the features of FGT|s proposed settlement. Florida Gas

rransrqrEEien-go.-, 51 FERC ![ 6L,3Og (1990) ' U Initially' the

June l-5 settlement order accepted FGTrs gas supply and capacity

curtailment proposals. g/ The commission also accepted on an

u

similarly, if capacity limitations precluded FGT from
deliveriirg the-iEq"irlments of its preferred interruptible
customers, Sectiori gaf of the proposed settlement provided
ifrit deliveries would be allocltea according to FGT's end-
use curtailment procedures. 5l- FERC at p' 62, O1l-'

Both petitioners had previously intervened in these
Iro""Lai,9s, and were parties to the October l-989-settlement. See 47 FERC ![ 6L,253 at p' 61 t897 '

The Commissi-on's acceptance of FGTrs capacity curtailment
proposal was consiste-nt with order No. 436-A, which
;;;ita;d piperines during gas suppry and capacitv 

.(eontinued. . . )

{

,I
s
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interim basis FcTfs proposal to establish a volumetric cap on the

total quantity of gas eligible for preferred interruptible

service, and thereby preserve the quatity of this service' 9J

Z. While the Commission did not reject FGTts end-use based

curtailment procedures or its proposed volumetric cap for

preferred interruptible service, the June 15 settlement order did

explicitly reject FGT's proposal to schedule preferred

interruptible service on an end-use curtailment priority basis'

U (...continued)
curtailments trto allocate the limited capacity of their
systems among firrn and interruptible customers 'on the same

basis that tfiey allocated capacity prior t9 th9 rule. rrr

51 FERC at 62,41-o-l-l-. the Commission cautioned that FGTrs
eapacity curtailment provisions were applicable only after
scheduling occurred and after an unexpected loss of capacity
developed. 51 FERC aL 62,01-L n'57 '

g/ While the volumetric cap established limits on preferred
interruptible service as a whoIe, it did not establish or
recognii"-ity priorities as anong preferred interruptible
customers falea on end-use. The Commission acknowledg?d
that to the extent that the volumetric cap would restrict
quantities of open access transportation available to
Jnipp"r=, it wa-s inconsistent with the nondiscriminatory
access cond.j-tion of sections 284.8 (b) and 284 - 9 (b) of the
CommissionIs regulations- 5l- FERC at P' 62t-o05'
Nonetheless, the comrnission did not reject the cap because
many parties assented to the settlement on the condition
that the quality of the preferred interruptible service be
preserved,- and Lecause rlmoval of the cap would dilute the
ifuality and value of the preferred service'

For these reasons, the commission granted FGT a
temporary, limited waiver of the open access conditions of
order no'.'a:e solely for the purpose of maintaining the
volumetric cap, 5a ffnC at p. 62,005, and stated in a

subseguent orber that FGT rnust replace the cap with a more
efficient means of rationing preferred interruptible
cipacity-in an upcoming rate i"tg due to conmence in mid-
1991-. See Flori-ila Gas Transmission Co., 53 FERC ![ 6Lt396 at
62 ,377 ( l-990) .
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Instead, the commission expressly reguired that preferred

interruptible service be scheduled on a first-come, first served

basis rrto ensure that late-comers [would] not wrest away the

services and capacity of customersrr already receiving that

service. 5l- FERC at P - 62,O1"L.

Because existing customers had already participated in an

unrestricted and rruncontested nomination process for defining

capacity allocation rightstt in FGTts settlement proceeding, and

FGT had already accepted nominations from preferred interruptible

service, the commission assigned an october !7, l-989 priority

date for deterrnining their priority over subseguent reguests for

service. 51 FERC at p- 62,01-l- and n'69'LO/

The Commission went on to rule that when capacity was

insufficj-ent to satisfy the demand of all customers with this

priority date, it must be allocated by FGT through scheduling

customers on a pro rata basis, and not on the end-use basis that

FGT had originally proposed. As the commission stated:

In the event available caPacitY is
insufficient to meet aII of the October L7,
l-989, preferred service customers I

nominations, FGT should schedule services
,itnit this group on a pro rata basis using
current nomiiations from the transportation
customers and the current estimates of
service from the sales customers' To the
extent any post-October L7, )-989, preferred
customers are to be scheduled for service,
FGT should comply with the first-come, first
served principle and time stamp the reguests

As a result, all preexisting preferred -interruptible
customers were asLigned this priority date, and not some

earlier date corresponding to when each customer
respectively had commenced service from FGT'

L9./
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for service received on the same day. Most

data.

51 FERC at pp . 52,011-L2 (enphasis added. )

3. Final1y, the June 15, l-990 order required FGT to clarify

when its end-use based curtailment provisions would be in effect,

as opposed to the first-come, first served/pro rata scheduling

provisions required by that order. To that end, the Commission

noted that, dS proposed, Section 9AL of the settlement would

perrnit FGT to invoke its curtailment procedures, and thereby

allocate capacity on an end-use basis, whenever capacity

limitations prevented FGT rrfrom delivering the reguirements of

all of its customers.rt 5l- FERC at p. 62,01-L. Recognizing the

potential conflict between this proposal and the Commissionrs pro

rata scheduling reguirement, the Commission directed FGT to

change the language of Section 9A1 to provide "that its capacity

curtailment provisions will be in force only after scheduling had

taken pIace, and only after an unexpected loss of capacity has

occurred.tf 51 FERC at P- 62,OlL-

FGT accepted the modifications to its settlement reguired by

the Commissionts June l-5 order. On July a3, l-990, FGT issued

tariff sheets to implement scheduling procedures and restrictions

on curtailment conforming to that order. Section 9B1 of FGT|s

July 13, 1990 tariff stated 'lFlorida Gas Transmission Company

(seI]er or Transporter) shall schedule deliveries . of

natural gas based upon Customer nominations and according to the
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following categories. t' Following the first scheduling priority

assigned to firm service, Section gBL expticitly stated:

If capacity is available after first
satistying the nominations of its firn
service customers, Sel1er will schedule
deliveries.ofnaturalgasforcustomers
receivingpreferrednaturalgasservicefrom
Seller . In the event' nominations for
preferred service exceed the capacity- 

-available for such service, Seller will
schedule such preferred setrrice on a first-
come, first-serrred basis, based on the
PrioritY Date . of the customers
nominating such service In the event
capacity is insufficient to meet aII of the
October 17 , 1-989 preferred customers I

nominations, Transporter will schedule
service on a pro rata basis using current
nominations.

R. r.L4, J.A.

No party

rulings, W

24 L/
reguested rehearing or judicial review of these

or objected to FGTis JuIy 13, L99O tariff filing'

rt/

L2/

Similarly, Section 9A1 of FGTrs JgIy L7, 1990 tariff adopted
the capa-city curtailment restrictions imposed by th9 June L5

settlement order. It provides that "Ii]f u{rexpected
;;;;;ity- limitations, incruding without limi-tation capacitv
constraints caused by operatinq conditions or force majeure,
causes SeIIer to be unaUte to deliver the services already
scheduled .rt' FGTts end-use priority curtailment
procedures will aPPIY- R- 12O.

Georgj-a Pacific and some other parties (but not Consolidated
t"tineials) filed for rehearing of the June l-5 settlement
oraer raising issues that had nothing to do with the pro
rata scheduling procedure and the restrictions on
curtailment pr5cLaur" imposed by that order. See Florida
Gas Transmislion Co. , 53 FERC t[ 6L,396 (1990) '

a Paeific sought rehearing only of that
p'art of the iune f-5 settlement order which had rejected a

iroposal to defer application of the Commissionfs Rate
;;;;g; eolicy staternLnt to reserved rate design issues until
FGTrs next rate case. Because FGT subsequently submitted
revi-sed rates that reasonably complied with the rate design
otrjectives of the Policy Stalement, the Commission dismissed

(continued- - - )
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FGT commenced operations under the tariff as an open access

transporter on August L' L990.

C. Tbe Ensuincr ComPlaints of Certain Preferred
Interruptible Customers

In the faII of L990, two of FGTrs preferred interruptible

customers, the Fort Pierce Utilities Authority (ttFt. Pierce'r) and

the city of vero Beach (ttvero Beachtt) , complained to the

Commissionrs Enforcement Task Force that FGT had irnproperly

invoked the curtailment procedures of its tariff to allocate

insufficient capacity among preferred interruptible customers

with the October L7, 1989, priority date. fn response, the

General Counselrs Office, acting through the Assistant General

Counsel for Enforcement, suglltested by letter dated March 1-, L99L,

that FGT seek clarification from the Commission of its right to

invoke these procedures. L3J Shortly thereafter, FGT filed

its tariff which is the subject of this proceeding.

D. The proceedinq Before llhe Conmission In This Case

1. FcTts April L7, 1991 Eariff Filinq

The proceeding in this case conmenced before the Commission

on April L7, l-991-, rrhen FGT filed tariff sheets that would modify

the procedures by which FGT scheduled service among its preferred

interruptible customers within the same priority date. FGTrs

a2/ (...continued)
Georgia Pacificts rehearing req[uest as moot.
p. 62,3'75.

A copy of this letter appears as an appendix
at pp. B1-B4.

53 FERC At

to this brief,
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tariff filing provided that once capacity was determined to be

insufficient within a priority date it would be allocated on the

basis of end-use curtailment priority, and not pro rata

scheduling as its existing tariff (as derived from the June L5

settlement) provides. l4-/ In support of the filing, FGT

asserted that the proposed tariff modification was needed because

of problems it had encountered after scheduling had taken place

during August and september L989, its first two months of

operation as an open access transporter. FGT exptained that

after it had received sales estimates and transportation

nomi-nations for preferred service for those months, and had

scheduled service based on those estimates and nominations,

customer overtakes of gas exceeded available capacity, which

caused a deliverY shortfall-

FGT also pointed out that its existing tariff did not

provide for the imposition of effective scheduling penalties

against sales customers, t5/ and that absent stringent

scheduling penalties or revisions to the scheduling procedures,

FGT could not prevent overtakes of this nature- R.5; J.A. 5'

L!/ The procedures proposed in the tariff filed in this case
difflred slightly irom those originally rejected by.the
Commission ii tne June L5 order, since FGT had originally
proposed end-use scheduling priorities regardless of
prilrity date, and did not-provide for any first-come, first
served prioritY scheduling-

FGT's existing tariff provides for the imposition of.
scheduling peialties onty agailst transportation customers'
According-ta FGT, these penalties were inadeguate because
they are only applicable to amounts scheduled at receipt
poiits on an aqlieqate monthly basis, and do not apply to
delivery points. R. 105-

a5/
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FGT also stated that even if scheduling penalties at delivery

points had been in fact made a part of its tariff, the existence

of such penalties rnight not have deterred the overtakes because

FGT lacked the capability to monitor deliveries to a large

segrment of its customer base on a daily basis, and was also

unable to physically restrict detiveries to its customer base'

R. 5i J.A. 5.

Ft. Pierce and vero Beach, two of the october 1-7, l-989

priority date customers (both fuel-switchable boiler-fuel end-

users that had an historically low priority for curtailment

purposes), intervened in this proceeding and filed a motion

requesting the Commission to reject FGTIs April 17 tariff filing

as contrary to the June 15, L990 settlement order. R. 52i J'A'

L2. Petitioners Georgia Pacific and Consolidated Minerals, tritro

ind.ustrial process customers that had a high end-use priority for

curtailment purposes, intervened in support of FGTts filing

asserting that the proposed tariff conforms to the intent of the

october l-989 proposed settlement, and complaining that the pro

rata scheduling procedure in FGT's existing tariff would, at

their expense, dramatically upgrade the quality of preferred

interruptible service to existing customers that historically had

been low prioritY end-users-

2.

on May 31, 199L, the commission issued an order rejecting

FGT's tariff fiIing. R. 1-48' J.A. 26. Initially, the Commission

acknowledged that although the June LggO settlement order had
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authorized FGT to continue using end-use priorities as the basis

for implementing its capacity curtailment procedures, that order

had specifically rejected FGTts proposal to schedute service on

the basis of end-use priority when sales estimates and

transportation nominations for preferred service exceeded

available capacity. R. 1-49i J.A. 27.

The Commission also stated that the June l-5 settlement

order required the pro rata scheduling change to enforce

compliance with open access principles. see R. 149, l-58;

J.A. 27, 36. To that end, the June l-5 settlement order made

clear that, with the advent of open access transportation on the

FGT system, the use of curtailment procedures for capacity

shortages would be restricted to circumstances in which the

pipeline scheduling had already taken place and there had been an

unexpected loss of capacity. R. l49i J.A. 27. Although FGT had

contended that curtailment had been necessary to maintain the

integrity of its system durj-ng the August-September l-990

overtakes, the Commission found that it was the systemrs

scheduling and allocation procedures that apparently were not

working and that the capacity problems caused by overtakes were

f oreseeable ci-rcumstances - R. L58; J.A. 36 '

The Commission was also unwilling to authorize FGT to depart

from the capacity allocation scheme established by the June l-5

order because FGT had failed to demonstrate that the pro rata

scheduling procedure did not award meaningful capaeity. R' L55,
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J.A. 33. L6/ The commission noted that FGT did not indicate

how the pro rata method has been applied to allocate capacity

since August 1, l-990, and had not specified what measures, if

dny, it had taken to ensure implementation of scheduling

consistent with the June l-5 order and Commission policy' Id'

Ttre commission further reasoned that FGT had offered no

explanation of how it had attempted to discipline scheduling

overruns through the imposition of existing scheduling penalties'

R. 156, J.A. 34. In short, in the commissionts view' FGT had

made no showing that it had ever sought to implement the pro rata

scheduling provisions of its existing tariff. uJ AccordinglY,

the Commission advised FGT to enforce its pro rata scheduling

provisions, as reguired by the June l-5 settlement order, and to

deter overtakes and inaccurate nominations through the

implementation of existing or revj-sed scheduling penalties'

R. L57 i J.A. 35.

The commissj-on also rejected FGTts argument that the revised
tariff was necessary to preserve the historical method by
which customei=-i==ig"ed the October 17, l-989 priority date
fria-pr""iousfy Ueen issigned capacity.. The Commission
stated that .iI pr""xisting customers (regardless of end-use
priority) were a'ssigned the october 17 priority date because
a1l customers nia slgnea new contracts entered into as part
of the settlement and filed on that date. R. l-57-58;
J.A. 35-36; 55 FERC at p. 6L,gg8' The Commission stated
that ',any further breakdown of priority within that group is
not approPriate- rr Id.

The Commission also concluded that FGTts proposal to replace
in" pro rata scheduling procedure for preferred customers
with an October A7 , Lgeg- priority date with an end-use
procedure would not address any future problem of customer
overtakes as it would not prevent preferred customers from
ai=."g.tding FGT's scheduling orders' R' L57; J'A' 35'

u_/
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3. The Recnrests For Behearino

Georgia Pacific and Consolidated Minerals (the petitioners

here) fited requests for rehearing of the Commissionfs May 31,

i-991- order . L8./ These two parties argued on rehearing that

the commissionrs June l-5 settlement order was in error because it

granted the same priority to aII customers who been assigned the

October 17, l-989 priority date. Petitioners also asserted that a

major premise underlying the preferred interruptible serviee as

proposed in the settlement was that it would continue to be

allocated on an end-use basis just as it had been for years'

without this assurance, petitioners argued, the firm gas

entitlements reflected in the settlement would have been

allocated differently, or they would not have agreed to the

settlement at all. R. 1-90; J-A- 43.

petitioners also argued on rehearing that the Commission's

May 31-, L991 order rejecting FGTts tariff filing violated Section

5 of the NGA, because it altered the preferred interruptible

service priorities (i.e., from end-use scheduling to pro rata

scheduting) without conducting a hearing, or bearing the burden

of proof on the need for this change in scheduling procedure;

that pro rata scheduling violates Title IV of the NGPA by

departing from FGT's existing end-use curtailment plan; and that

the May LggL order constj-tutes an unlawful assertion of

FGT and the Industrial Gas Users of Florida both filed
rehearing requests as weII. Inasmuch as they have not
appealed-from the commissionrs order denying rehearing,
aiicussion of their rehearing claims has been omitted as not
relevant to this aPPeaI-

!_9./



-l_8-

jurisdiction, not authorized under Section

because it reguired FGT to file a revised

scheduling penalties applicable to direct

4.

rel

1(b) of the NGA,

tariff imPosing

sales customers.

on August 8, L991, the commission denied rehearing' At the

outset, ttre commission found that it was the June 15, 1990

setttement order in Docket No. 88-50, and nOt the Subsequent May

t-991- order rejecting FGT's tariff filing in this proceeding, that

established the pro rata scheduling scheme that petitioners were

chaltenging on rehearing:

Whilethesettlementasfiledprovidedfor-
thecurtailmentandschedulingofpreferred
services on an end-use basis, the commission
specificatly rejected the proposed end-use
sLtreduting lrovision and required IFGT] to
rnodify th6 lettlement to reflect the pro rata
proviiion. In permitting [FGT] to_continue
its nistoric end-use curtailment plan, the
settlementorderclearlydistinguishedthe
curtailmentprovisionsfromtheseheduling
provisions for preferred services' It
emphasized that all references to the
schedulingofpreferredservicesthroughthe
application of end-use data must be
removed-

R. 262i J.A. 106. AgJ The Commission concluded that

Elaborating on the June 15 settlement orderts distinction
bettreen pro rata-based capacity atlocation on the one hand
and the end-use-based curlailment priorities on the other,
the Commission stated:

tT]hesettlementorderdoesnotpermitFGTto
use tne historical method of atlocating
capacity on an end-use basis, ds it provides
in- unrniltakable terms that the end-use
curtailment provision is appropriate only for
those situations where FGT is unable to
deliver aII nominated volumes (after

(continued. - . )
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petitioners were time-barred from challenging the pro rata

capacity allocation scheme established by the June L5 settlement

order because:

[n]o party reguested rehearing of the [June
isi sltttemenf orderrs decision on the pro
rata scheduling provision' FGT and the
applicants may not now seek to reverse that
decision in tfris proceeding by submission of
a tariff proposal identical to the one
rejected in the settlement order'

R. 262'; J.A. L06.

The commission also rejected petitionersr assertion that

each preferred interruptible customer's previous priority status

under the historical end-use curtailment procedures had been

retained after the June l-5 settlement order issued. The

Commission found that all of the customers that were assigned the

October :-7, 1989 priority date had been existing FGT customers

served under a preexisting rate schedule. As the Comrnission

found, these customers had been assigned the same priority date

because, ds the June 15 settlement order acknor^rledged, all had

revised their preexisting service agreements pursuant to the

settlement. Id.

The Commission further rejected petitionersr claims that the

May 31 order violated Section 5 of the NGA. The Commission

disagreed that its May LggL order declared FGTts existing tariff

!9_/ (...continued)
deliveries have been scheduled) as a
of unforeseen circumstances, such as
pipe or other facilitY failure'

R. 262i J.A. 106.

result
a burst
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to be unLawful because it did not contain effective scheduling

penalties. The commission stated that its May L99l- order simply

interpreted FGTrs existing tariff as consistent with the

Commissionrs June l-5 settlement order, and rejected the proposed

tariff filing because curtailment procedures and FGTrs renewed

end-use scheduling proposal were inappropriate rnethods of dealing

with overtakes. R. 263; J.A. LO1 '

The Commission further explained that while the May l-99L

order discussed the possibility of FGT's implementation of

schedulinq penalties as a potential solution to the problem of

overtakes, it did not order FGT to file any new tariff containing

such penalties. Rather, ds the commission stated, FGT ttmay file

for approval of any different or additional penalties or not, as

it chooses. rr R. 263i J.A. L07.

This appeal followed-
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SI'IIUARY OF ARGI'UENT

The Commission's rejection of FGTts tariff filing was a

proper exercise of its authority under Section 4 of the NGA. By

filing a tariff that would have instituted capacity scheduling

procedures based on end-use curtailment priorities for FGTrs

preferred interruptible service, FGT was simply seeki-ng to

reverse the Commissionrs pro rata scheduling determination, made

in its June L5 settlement order in Docket No. RP89-50, without

having ever undertaken a serious effort to comply with the pro

rata scheduling requirement of that order. The pro rata

scheduling procedure reguired by the June L5 order was consistent

with the Commissionts nondiscriminatory access policy of order

No. 436. FGT has not justified any departure from this policy by

citing problems it had encountered as a result of customer

overtakes.

The Commission reasonably concluded that end-use priority

scheduling hras not justified by the overtakes involved here. The

record in this case suggests that inmediately upon discovering

the overtake abuses, FGT proceeded immediately to its end-use

curtailment procedures and curtailed servj-ce to low end-use

priority customers that rrrere entitled to a pro rata allocation of

capacity. And the Comrnissionrs determinations that customer

overtakes are a foreseeable event that is not unexpected, and

that FGT had not shown that it attempted to discipline customer

overtakes through existing or revised scheduling penalties, are

unchallenged by petitioners in this case.
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The only issues raised by petitioners in this appeal revolve

around their erroneous claim that the orders in this case elevat,e

pro rata scheduling over end-use priority scheduling, and thereby

significantly alter the historical end-use priority scheme for

allocating capacity among preferred interruptible customers. AI1

of these claims, however, are barred by res judicata because the

alteration of FGT's historic end-use capacity allocation scheme

was first clearly established by the Commissionrs June 15, L990

settlement order in Docket No. RP89-5O. Since no party requested

rehearing or appealed from the June L990 settlement order, that

order became final long ago. In these circumstances, the

Commission correctly concluded that petitioners are barred from

relitigati-ng issues in this case that they could have and should

have raised on rehearing and appeal from the June L990 order.

Nor can petitionersr claim that the June l-990 order did not

put them on notice that end-use priority scheduling had been

rejected in favor of pro rata scheduling. The Commissionrs

rejection of end-use scheduling sought by the settlement proposal

was couched in explicit language in the June L5 order,

unequivocally directing FGT to remove all references to the

scheduling of preferred services through the application of end-

use data. FGT had no difficulty understanding the import of the

June 15 settlement order, ds evidenced by its issuance of tariff

sheets imposing pro rata scheduling and restricting end-use

capacity curtailment procedures to unexpected events arising

after scheduling, and FGT has not appealed the orders under
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review. In sum, all of their claims that the pro rata scheduling

procedure, initially imposed in the June L5 settlement ord'er,

violates Section 5 of the NGA and Title IV of the NGPA, and

exceeds the lirnits of Cornmission jurisdiction, are all barred by

well-established res judicata principles.
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ARGI'T[EI(I

TtrE COUUISSION CORRECTI.Y REJBCIIED FGTIS APRII' 1991 TERIFF

FII.ING BECAuSE IT TA8 IIICO}IsIsTENT TTTE COIIIIISSION POI,ICY

A}ID RAISED CI.AIUS PRECI,UDED BY PRINCIPLES OF REs iIUDICATA

L. It is well-established that the commission has authority

to summarily reject t,ariff filings that are a substantive nullity

or in violation of valid and explicit policy. see southern

Natural- GaE--ga-- v. FERC, 813 F'2d 11-l-1 , L]-Lz (11th Cir' l-987);

United Gas Pipe lille Co-- v. FERC, 7O7 F'2d L5O7 ' 1-5]-L-L2 (D'C'

cir. l-983); Municipal Light Boards v. FPC, 450 F.2d 134L, L345

(D.c. Cj.r. Lg7:a} , cert. denied, 4o5 U.S. 989 (L972). FGT's April

l-991- tariff filing involved in this proceeding was properly

rejected in light of these precedents because it stood in di-rect

contravention of the commissionrs policy as explicitly expressed

in the June 15, l-990 settlement order'

Thus, the commission rejected FGTrs tariff filing because

FGT was si-mply seeking to reverse in this proceedinE a final

determination made in the June l-5 settlement order 'rby submission

of a tariff proposal identical to the one rejected in the

settlement order. il R. 262i J.A. l-05. 23-/ Specif icaI1y, FGT

proposed to alter the schedulingt procedures for preferred

interruptible service in its existing tariff from pro rata

A.

As noted, FGT's April L991 tariff proposal and its October
L989 settlement pioposal were essentially identical to the
extent that both wouta have imposed end-use.priority
="n"arrting for FGT preferred customers within ttre same

priority d.ate.

2e/
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scheduling to end-use priority scheduling, when less than ten

months earlier in its June i-990 order the Commission had

explicitly rejected end-use scheduling in favor of pro rata

scheduling. Because the commission found that FGT had made no

showing that it had ever attempted to implement pro rata

scheduling or to discipline customer overtakes, it reasonably

concluded that there was no 1e9a1 or policy basis upon which to

accept FGTrs April l,gg:- proposal. Indeed, the acceptance of the

present tariff filing by the Cornmission would have allowed

petitioners to disregard the open access policies of Commission

order No. 436 and negate the capacity allocation procedure

established by the June 1990 settlement order--that FGT should

allocate capacity amongi preferred interruptible service customers

within the same october L7, l-989 priority date on a pro rata

scheduling basis--by reverting to a scheduling provision governed

by end use curtailment procedures. There was simply no basis for

FGT to so i-gnore the plain meaning of the June 1990 settlement

order . 4/

zy It should be noted, moreover, that the Commission has never
interpreted NGPA Title IVrs system of end-use curtailment
fiiio.iti"= as apprying to curtailments that arise from a
-shortage of traniportation capacity.. $ee Order No. 636,
pipefiie Service bUfigations Lnd Revisions To Regulations
eoierning sel;-rmplem6nting Transportation; and Regulation
of Natural Gas eilelines aiter Partial Wellhead Decontrol,
57 Fed. Reg. L3,267 (Apr. l-6, Lg92), III FERC Stats. & Regs.
ereambles ![ 30,g39 (.d,pr- A, L9921 , at pp' 30,429-3Li order
on rehrq, 6rder No. OaO-a, 57 Fed. Reg. 36, L28 (Aug. L2,
tggZ), ].],t FERC Stats- Regs. Preambles 51 301950 a! PP'
30,5g6-93, appeal pendinq-sub I}o'&, Atlanta Gas Liqht co. v.
feic, No. 7Z-A7Z -(11th Cir.); see also Order No. 436-4,

(continued- . . )
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Nor can it be said that the Commissionrs orders in this case

are the product of arbitrary or irrationat agency action' On the

contrary, the comnissionts express rejection of FGTrs end-use

scheduling provision in the partiesr October L989 settlement

proposal in Docket No. RP89-50 was grOunded upon the

nondiscriminatory access policies of Order No. 436. Under Order

No. 436, pipelineS, as open access transporters, are reguired to

accept reguests for service on a first-come, first-served basis'

and may not favor sales customers over transportation Customers'

or vice versa, with respect to priority to pipeline capacity.

See, 9.€-, Texas Eastern Transmission Corp', 37 FERC f 51-'26o at

p. 6t,695-e6 (1986).

In this case, the overriding policy of nondiscriminatory

serviee would not have been achieved on FGT's system simply by

2l/ (...continued)
supra n.3, it pp. 6l-,351--53; order No' 436, supra D'3' at
pp. 31,51-4-5L5.

while the commission has, on occasi.on, permitted pipelines'
pieExisting e;d-use prioi+a, plans for capacity curtailments
Lo continue after conmencing service as open access -.
transportersr-ds it did in Fefrs open access proceeding
lOockLt Uo. ie eS-S01, the Commission has always made clear
ifr"t grandfathered end-use capacity curtailment procedures
are r6stricted to cases in which there has been an
unexpected loss of capacity, such as. a force majeure event.
See 6rder No. 436-A, supra'note 3, at p' 31 '653; see also
EIited eas pipe t,ine Co-. , 49 FERC ![ 5L,o96 at p. 61 ,444.
;i,h" C"mnri==Gn nas never extended grandfathering of end-use
-ipacity curtailment procedures to rrscheduling" situations
irr'rfri"i, a pipeline hls received nominations for more
i"t"ii"ptibie- service than it has available capacity'
Indeed, ttre commission has rejected order No. 436 settlement
frovisions that fail to distinguish between ilschedulingtt and
itcurtailment.rt See Texas Eastern Transmission Corp' , 37

FERC !l 6L'260 at p- 6L,696 (1-986) '
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rejecting end-use priority scheduling in favor of a first-come,

first-served priority because the Commission was still faced with

resolving the priority of existing customers who had already

received nominations for preferred service. with respect to

determining priority among existing customers and others who have

reguested service shortly before the pipeline becomes an open

access transporter, the commission's policy has been to allow the

pipeline to hold an ropen Seasontt prior to commencement of open

access service, and to treat aI1 reguests for service received

during the open season period as having been received

simultaneously, of on the same priority date. see consolidated

Gas Transmission Corp. , 42 FERC !t 5l-,060 at pp. 6l-,297-98 (1988) 
'

Tennessee Gas Pineline Co. , 40 FERC fl 6L,L94 at p' 61 '639 (l-987) '

In these cases, the commission has required capacity to be

scheduled on a Pro rata basis. 22/

rn this case, however, FGT did not hOld an open season for

preferred int,erruptible service because it bypassed the first-

come, first-served process entirely, and proposed scheduling

zu In another case, Pacific Gas Transmissiqn Co', 40 FERU

fl 6:-,tg3 (L987)', the commission approved the use of an open
season, but p"fr,itt"d the pipelinl- to determine priority to
capacity by iray of a lottery for all customers with the same

priorit!, a-ate, instead.of .by pro- rata scheduling. In the
orders below,'th;-iommissioir toor note of the few cases in
which it has approved the use of a tottery, but adhered in
this case to tirl pro rata scheduling procedure required by
the June 15 settllment order because FGT has never proposed
aifocati-rrg ".lu"ity 

to= preferred interruptible service on

the basis-of I lotlery, and because FGT had never
demonstrated the pro -rata scheduling would not award
meaningful capacity. R. 260i J'A' LO4 '
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based solely on end-use priorities. 23/ In invalidating FGTrs

end-use scheduling proposal, the commission did not reguire FGT

to return to the drawing board and hold an open Season. Rather,

the commission assigned a priority date of october L7, L989' the

date of the settlement, to all customers who had received

nominations for preferred service because FGT had trgone through

anuncontestednominationprocessfordefiningcapacity

allocation rights in which all parties were free to participate'rt

51 FERC at 52,01-L n.69. 2-4-/

2. Neither FGT nor any one else ever sought retrearing or

appealedfromtheassignmentofthisprioritydateorfromthe
pro rata capacity allocation procedures established by the June

15 settlement order. 25/ Instead, FGT accepted the settlement

as modified and filed a tariff conforming to the pro rata

scheduling procedure imposed by the June 15 order' see p' 11'

23_/

2A/

As noted, FGT did hOld an open season for nominations for
ii11n servj-ce in early L989. See note 4, supra. -Thus,
petitioners nia .r, oipottunitfio subscriUJ for firm service
it tfr.t time, which they failed to do'

As the Commission recognized in the orders under reviewr S.
R.1-57,262iJ.A.35,fOOandintheJunel-ggosettlement
order in Docket No. RP89-50, see.sL FERC at p' 62,099 and

nn. 50-51, aII of FGT's preexGEing customers negotiated new

service .qr""*"rrt= in which rreach customer chose the length
of its sales service agreement as well as the leve1 of
service it desired.rr ia. at p' 62,009.n'5L' Thus' all
existing customers were treatLa as having the same priority
date, October L7, 1989'

See n.L2, suPra.25./
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supra. 25/ Almost immediately upon commencing open access

service in August L990, FGT encountered capacity-related problems

stemming from some retail customers deliberately taking more gas

than they estimated or nominated. These problems were the

primary justification offered by FGT for the revised tariff

proposal . 27-/

As the Commission correctly found, there was no valid policy

reason or lega1 justification for accepting FGTrs April l-991-

tariff proposal. The record in this proceeding contains nothj-ng

to suggest that FGT ever attempted to implement the pro rata

scheduling procedures contained in its tariff. Moreover,

deliberate customer overtakes hrere not the kind of unexpected

rforce majeurer events that would justify end-use curtailment

under Sections 9A and 9A1 of FGTrs existing tariff. And the

record does not indicate that FGT ever attempted to discipline

customers for the overtakes. Rather, the record suggests that

immediately upon detecting the overtake abuses, FGT proceeded

25/ FGT also conformed its tariff to the reguirements of the
June l-5 settlement order restricting end-use curtailment to
unexpected capacity losses that arose only after scheduling
had taken place. See n. l-l- r SEE.

FGT also had complained that the pro rata scheduling
procedure in its existing tariff, if enforced, would upset
Ln" fristorical priority to preferred tariff service that
high priority end-users had enjoyed prior to August 1990.
R. 1Ol--02. As the Commission COrrectly found, however, the
pro rata scheduling provision was an issue decided in the
]une 15, 1990 settlement proceeding and that none of the
parties had sought rehearing of the Commissionts rejection
Lf end-use scheduling. Therefore, they could not seek to
reverse that decision in this proceeding. See discussion
infra pp. 3l--3 9 .

23_/
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directly to its end-use curtailment procedures, and curtailed

service to low end-use priority customers that were entitled to a

pro rata allocation of caPacitY.

consequently, in April 1991-, when FGT made its tariff

filing, FGTts pro rata scheduling procedures remained essentially

untested, and FGT simply filed a revised tariff proposal which

would return FGT to essentially the same end-use priority

scheduling procedure for customers within the same priority date

that it had originatly proposed in october L989, and which the

commission had rejected in its June l-5 settlement order' since

it has been the Commissionrs policy to allow pipelines to impose

scheduling and imbalance penalties to remedy capaej-ty problems

created by overtakes, E Iroquois Gas Transmission SVstem, 52

FERC ![ 6]-,091-, at p. 6L,427 (l-990) ; Pelican Interstate Gas

System, 5L FERC fl 61,2L5 at p. 6l-,605 (L990); see also, R. L56'

263; J.A. 34, !O7 | the comrnission properly concluded that FGT

should not be permitted to depart from the pro rata scheduling

procedures in its existing tariff in favor of end-use scheduling,

where the Latter violates the first-come, first served principles

of order No. 436. As noted, only petitioners, and not FGT, have

appealed from these Commission orders' 28/

There is absolutely no support in the record for petitioners
assertion (Pet. er-. 2o-2r1-trrat the commission or its staff ,

in violation of Section 5 of the NGA, has ttcoercedrr FGT into
*"xi"g a tariff filing. To the contrary, the.commissionrs
order on rehearing m.[e= it guite clear that in rejecting
FGT's tariff filing, the Commission simply Preserved the
status qluo, and ttrit ref ttmay file for approval of any
different or add.itional penalties or not, ES it chooses'rr
R. 263, J.A. LO7.
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Uudicata

t-. In their opening brief, petitioners contend that the

Commission, in rejecting the tariff filed by FGT in this case,

has elevated pro rata scheduling of capacity for PGTts preferred

interruptible service over historic end-use curtailment priority,

in violation of the NGA and Title fV of the Natural Gas Policy

Act of L978, 15 U.S.C. SS 33gL-94 (Pet. Br. L5-23i 23-28)i that

the Commission-imposed pro rata scheduling procedure exceeds the

bounds of Commission jurisdiction over deliveries of gas to

direct sale customers; and that (Pet. Br. 31-35) the Cornmission's

alleged determination here to elevate pro rata scheduling over

end-use curtailment was arbitrary and capricious, and unsupported

by substantial evidence.

Without addressing each of these claims individually, the

Commission found that they could have and should have been raised

on rehearing of the June 15 settlement order in Docket No- 89-50:

The June 15 settlement order reguired [fGT]
to schedule the nominations of its preferred
interruptible customers on a pro rata basis
where deurand exceeds capacity. While the
settlement as filed provided for the
curtailment and scheduling of preferred
services on an end-use basis, the Commission
specifically rejected the proposed end-use
slheduling provision and reguired IF.GT] to
modify the settlement to reflect the pro rata
proviiion No PartY reguested-rehearing of the settlement order I s decision
on the pio rata scheduling provision. [FGT]
and the applicants may not now seek to
reverse tirlt decision in this proceeding on a
tariff proposal identical to the one rejected
in the settlement order-

B.
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(R. 262i J.A. 106. )

The Commissionts ruling reflects a correct apptication of

the doctrine of res judicata. It is well-established that rra

right, guestion or fact distinctly put in issue and directly

determined by a court of competent jurisdiction cannot be

disputed in a subseguent suit between the same parties and their

privies. Montana v. United States, 44O U.S. L4'7, L53 (L979).

The doctrine of res judicata holds that 'rwhen a final judgment

has been entered on the merits of a case, it is a finality as to

the claim or demand in controversy, concluding parties and those

in privity with them, not only as to every matter which was

offered and received to sustain or defeat the claim, but as to

any other admissible matter which might have been offered for

that purpose.rr Nevada v. United States, 463 U.S. Ll-0, L29-3O

(1e83).

Subsumed within the res judicata doctrine is the concept of

rrclaim preclusior,tt which refers to the rrpreclusive effect of a

judgment in foreelosing litigation of matters that should have

been raised in an earlier case.tt Migra v. Warren Citv School

District Board of Education, 465 U.S. 75, 77, n.L (1984) ' As

this court has recognized, rrthe principle underlying claim

preclusion is that a party who once has had a chance to litigate

a claim before an appropriate tribunal usually ought not to have

another chance to do so.tt Clark-Cowlitz J-oint Operatincr Aqency

v. FERC, 826 F.2d LO74t tOTg (D.C, Cir. L987) (quotinq,

Restatement (second) Judgrrnents at 6 (L991), see also North v'
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Walsh, 881- F.2d l-088, l-095 (D. C. Cir. L989) (claim preclusion

applies to issues litigant could have raised in earlier action);

Brotherhood of R.R. Trainmen v. Atlantic Coast Line R.R., 383

F.2d 225t 227 (D.C. Cir. 1967) (parties foreclosed from later

seeking relief on the basis of issues they night have raised in

the prior proceeding to support the originat claim). The same

rules apply in the administrative alJency context. E.g,-, Kremer

v. Chemical Construction Corp. , 456 U.S. 46Lt 484-85 n.26 (1'982);

United States v. Utah Construction & Mining Co., 384 U.S. 394,

421-423 (L966) ("Utah Constructionr') -

2.a. In 1ight of these principles, it should be clear that

all of the elements of claim preclusion are present in this case,

and therefore res judicata should operate to bar petitioners from

raising any challenges to the pro rata scheduling determination

made initially in the June L5 settlement order. First of aII,

the "right" or rrquestiorrr of end-use priority scheduling, ds

opposed to pro rata scheduling, sras rtdistinctly put in issuerr and

distinctly determined by an administrative tribunal of eompetent

jurisdiction. See Montana v. United States | 44O U.S. at l-53-1-54;

Utah Construction, 384 U.S. at 422-

Here, the issue of end-use priority scheduling was presented

by FGT to the Commission in the form of a proposed settlement

term. In response to that settlement proposal, the Commission in

its June t5, l-990 order explicitly rejected end-use priority

scheduting and, instead, specifically instrueted FGT to schedule

preferred interruptible service on a first-come, first served
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basis. Even where customers were assigned the same priority date

in terms of a first-come, first serrred priority, the Commission

also explicitly refused to allor,.r scheduling to be done on an end-

use priority basis. Rather, when preferred service customers had

the same priority date, the commission specifically reguired

ordered FGT to schedule service on a pro rata basis. Thus, the

June 15 settlement order made clear in no uncertain terms that'

for scheduling purposes, "JrrLl-os.! criticaf is the removal of

all references to the scheduling of preferred services through

the application of end-use data.rr 51- FERC at p.6L,OL2.

(Ernphasis added.) 23-/ In light of this commission ruling,

there can be no guestion that petitioners had notice from the

altered scheduling procedures imposed by the June 15 settlement

2e./ The Commission made its rejection of end-use scheduling even
clearer when it reguired fat to amend Section 9A1 of FGTrs
pi"p"="a iariff, ,Iii"h would have permitted FGT to invoke
its end-use capacity curtailment procedures whenever
;;;";iay rinitltion-s prevented FGT from delivering the
r"'goir"ients of all of its customers. Recognizing the
p"i""ii"f conflict between this proposal and its pro rata
Lcheduling reguirement, the Commission directed FGT to
change th6 fariguage of Section 9A1 to provide that its

"ip.6ity curtiirm5nt provisi-ons will be in force only after
sci:eduling has taken p1ace, and then only after an
un"xpected loss of capacity. 51 FERC at p' 61,011-'

In view of this background, petitioners clai*-(19t. Br. 15)
that because the Cornmission expressly approved the
continuance of end-use curtailinent piocedures for gas supqly
shortages and toice majeure capacity constraints, they did-
not understand the June l-5 setllement order to have altered
end-use capacity allocation must be rejected'
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order that capacity would no longrer be allocated on the

historj-cal end-use priority basis. 30/

AccordinglY, the claims that petitioners have raised in this

appeal could and should have been raised on rehearing of the June

L5 settlement order to preserrre the right to judicial review'

See Section L9(b) of the NGA, l-5 U.S.C. S 7L7t(b) ("No objection

to the order of the Commission shall be considered by the court

unless such objection to the order shalI have been urged before

the commission in an application for rehearing.") To be sure,

petitioners claim that the orders here under review, not the June

15 settlement order, elevate pro rata scheduling over end-use

curtailment priorities as a capacity allocation mechanism' But,

as demonstrated above, it is guite clear that this departure from

historical practice was announced directly in the Commission'S

June l-5 settlement order. Thus, petitionerst claims actually

surfaced when the Commission issued the June l-5 order and

therefore, the pro rata scheduling procedure should have been

challenged on review in that case. Having not proceeded in

required fashion, petitioners should not be allowed to resurrect

those claims in this case.

b. Nor can petitioners characterize (see Pet. Br. 16) the

Commissionrs reference to a ttburst Pipett in the orders under

FGT had no difficulty understanding the import of the June
l-5 settlement order, ES eVidenced by its issuance of tariff
in""t= imposing pro rata scheduling for customers with the

=ir" prioiity aate, see p. 11, supra, and restricting

""p."ity 
curiailment proledures to unexpected events after

scheduling.

30/
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review as a trnewly imposed constraintrr on FGT I s historic end-use

curtailment procedures, i.e., the first time the Commission made

clear that a force majeure event was the only cireumstance that

could justify FGT's invocation of the end-use priority capacity

curtailment procedure authorized by section 9A of its tariff'

Once again, petitioners ignore the fact that the Conmission had

atready expressed the same view in its June 1-5 settlement order:

Wenotethatthecurtaitmentprovisionsare
applicable only to instances in which the
pileline is unltrte to deliver at1 nominated
volurnes after deliveries have been scheduled
for the day It follows that servj-ce
will be only cut off for unforeseen
ilcumstances such as a brirst pipe or
tacitity faiture. We believe ttrat
curGililent based on the end-use priority is
approPriate for such situations'

51 FERC at P. 62,OLL n-67.

c. Petitioners also claim that certain statements in the

June L5 settlement orderr -Gr that the Commission was

Itpreservingtt the rrsame gualitytt of preferred interruptible

service, and that without receiving assurances that the preferred

service would be retained many customers would not have assented

to the settlement, misled them into believing that capacity would

continue to be allocated on the basis of end-use curtailment

priorities. But this contention can only rest on a plain

misreading of the June 1,5 settlement order, and therefore must be

rej ected.

By acknowledging that preferred customers ltere entitled to

the same guality of service that previously existed, and that

many customers would not have assented to the settlement without
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retaining the preferred service, see 5l- FERC at p. 61-1005, the

commission was only justifying its temporary authorization of the

proposed volumetric cap to preserve the preferred interruptible

service category as a whole, in light of concerns that the cap

rnight contravene the nondiscriminatory acgess reguirements of

Order No. 436. 3-L/ Simply Put, these reasons for authorizing

the vol,umetric cap were never advanced in connection with the

Commissionrs modification of FGTrs scheduling provisions, i'ts

assignment of the same october 17, L989 priority date to all

existing FGT customers (regardless of end-use curtailment

priority), and its prohibition against the use of end-use

curtailment priorities except in unexpected, force majeure

situations after service had been scheduled. AccordinglY, these

justifications for retaining the volumetric cap were who1ly

unrelated to the scheduling and capacity allocation within the

preferred interruptible customer class'

d. Finatly, petitioners suggest that they had no notice

from the June l-5 settlement order that the commission had altered

FGTts method of all0cating capacity because the commission's June

15 order approved a settlement in which scheduling notices had

rrno teethrt--that is, FGTts scheduling penalties were inadeguate

to deter overtakes. Because it appears from the record that the

problem of overtakes did not arise until after the settlement

As noted, .S-E note 9, supra, the volumetric cap did not
establish or recognize any priorities as among preferred
i"t"ir"ptib1e cusf,omers Ulsla on end-use, but was created
simpfy to establish a volume linit on preferred service
overa1I.
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order issued, and because no party in the settlement case had

raised any objection that FGT's existing penalties were

inadequate to deter customer overtakes that uright occur in the

future, w the commission had no occasion to address the

subject of scheduling penalties in the June 15 settlement order'

Thus, petitioners cannot seriously claim that they relied on the

absence of adeguate scheduling penalties as proof that the

Commissj-on did not intend to alter FGTrs capacity allocation

scheme to a pro rata method j-n the June l-5 order.

3. In sum, petitioners have no basis upon which to claim

that the June L5 settlement order conveyed insufficient notice

that the end-use curtailment scheduling priorities that FGT

originally proposed in the October L989 settlement as filed with

the commission were not explicitly rejected, ot that the June 1-5

order failed to alert them that the historic end-use priority

allocation method still allowed for capacity curtaiLnents would

be available only after pro rata scheduling had taken place and

then only after an unexpected loss of capacity--such as a burst

Two parties to the October i.989 settlement did file comments
on the settlement proposal reguesting the commission to
reguire FGT to =p"city in its tariff how unauthorized sales
or"-rrrrr= would UL treited during periods of capacity
constraints. The commission did not reguire FGT to address
unauthorized sales overruns in its tariff stating that

By definition, unauthorized overrun volumes
aie not scheduled by the pipeline' Because
taking unauthorized overrun volumes is a
profri6ited act by the customer and not in
control of the pl-peIine, specific language is
unnecessary and meaningless.

51 FERC at P. 62,01.2-
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pipeorforcemajeurelossoffacilities..|,ccord'ingly,asthe

commission here found, petitionersr claims must be rejected in

accordundersettledprinciplesofresjudicata.33J
CONCI,USION

Fortheforegoingreasons,theordersoftheCommission

should be affirmed.
ResPectfullY submitted,
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33_/ Although petitioners have argued (P?t' Br' 30) that the
ord.ers under iEti"* 'rgo outslae rit's curtailment plan to
allocate natural ga= fo nonjurisd.ictional customersrr and

thereby "*"""a-in6 
lirnits oi tfr" Commissionrs jurisdiction

over direct sales customers, it is clear from their
discussion of this issue that they are simply gbjecting to
the pro rata ="nEarrfing mechanism-established by the June L5

settleme.rt o.a"i. Thui, this claim, too, is barred by res
judicata. As the supreme court has recognized: rrlt has long
been the rule init p'rincipfes of res judicata apply to
j"i:-=ai"tional -aEi"^ttinations--both subject matter and

iersonal.t' Insurance CQrporation of .Il:eland' Ltd' v'
-c"*pig"i" a" , 456 U's' 694' 7o2 n'9
( r-e82 ) .


